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England, you know, is a nation
of small hotel keepers, not shopkeepers.


JOHN CLEESE





CHECKING IN


Qué?


 



Look: if we can attract this class of customer, I mean . . . the sky’s the limit!


The television is on, and it is Fawlty. A lean, lanky, moustachioed man with clenched fists, clenched hair and a clenched heart is raging at the whole of the world: stuffing cheese down the windpipe of an innocently verbose spoon salesman, shouting at an elderly semi-deaf person, ranting at a middle-aged German person, slapping a little Spanish person, lashing out about kippers, ducks and salads, administering a damned good thrashing to a stationary car and depositing an outsized garden gnome inside an incompetent Irish builder. This is Fawlty, and it is faultless.


Watch as the latest visitor wanders through the forecourt, climbs up the steps, comes into the lobby and rings the bell at reception:




FAWLTY: Yes, yes? Well – yes?


VISITOR: Er, well, I was wondering if you could offer me accommodation for a few nights?


FAWLTY: Well, have you booked?


VISITOR: I’m sorry?


FAWLTY: Have you booked, have you booked?


VISITOR: N-no.


FAWLTY: Oh dear!


VISITOR: Why, are you full?


FAWLTY: Oh, we’re not full. We’re not full. Of course we’re not full!!


VISITOR: Well, I’d like . . .


FAWLTY: One moment, one moment!1





Now move on to the dining room and see someone try to ask for a little assistance:




GUEST: Excuse me . . .


FAWLTY: Yes?


GUEST: Er, look, we’ve been waiting here for about half an hour now, I mean, we gave the waiter our order . . .


FAWLTY: Oh, him! He’s hopeless, isn’t he?


GUEST: Yes, well, I don’t wish to complain, but when he does bring something, he’s got it wrong.


FAWLTY: You think I don’t know? I mean, you only have to eat here. We have to live with it!2





Next, turn back into the lobby, sneak upstairs and spy on the poor bewildered guests who are in the process of being expelled:




FAWLTY: I’m sorry, but you’ll have to go. We made a mistake – all these rooms are taken. I’m so sorry. Well, actually, I’m not sorry. I mean, you come here, just like that, and, well, to be perfectly blunt, you have a very good time at our expense! Hmmm? I mean, I think you know what I mean. Hmmm? I mean, you have had a very, very, good time, haven’t you? Well, not here you don’t! Oh no! Thank you and good night!3





Finally, slip back down to reception and observe another couple struggle to pay up and check out:




FAWLTY: Yes?


GUEST: Er . . . could we have our bill, please?


FAWLTY: Well, can you wait a minute?


GUEST: Er . . . I’m afraid we’re a bit late for our train – we didn’t get our alarm call.


FAWLTY: Right. I was up at five, you know, we do have staff problems, I’m so sorry it’s not all done by magic!4





This is the place we all know as Fawlty Towers – the hotel we can switch off any time we like, but never want to leave.


Fawlty Towers was only on our television screens for twelve half-hour episodes – six in 1975 and another six in 1979 – but it has stayed in our lives ever since. It was a truly great sitcom, and, like all other great sitcoms, it gave us a central character – like a Hancock, a Steptoe, a Mainwaring or a Wilson – who was so vivid, so funny, so flawed and so weirdly real that he very rapidly became positively adjectival: after this man came into view, so many other people we knew seemed, all of a sudden, ‘just like Basil Fawlty’ or even eerily ‘Fawltyesque’. You laughed at him, and sometimes you laughed with him, or at least sympathised with him, and you even, in an odd sort of way, cared about him. He was not just a comical bit of fiction; he was also a figure who seemed to live and breathe and struggle to cope with all of his many inadequacies – just like you, or me, or, as you and me would probably prefer to think, that awful person whom we both happen to know.


There was more to the show, however, than Basil Fawlty. There was the classic ‘trapped relationship’ between Basil and his shrewishly sybaritic wife Sybil, which gave us a marriage between a man who was afraid of women, and a woman who loved being feared by men even more than she loved being adored by them. There was poor Polly, who had so much unfulfilled potential, and the dotty old Major, who had so much unread newspaper, as well as the hapless Manuel, who was from Barcelona. There were also the weekly wild cards: the procession of peculiar guests, with their range of deceptively banal requests, who sparked off each new gloriously manic storyline. All of these elements combined to create a sublimely rich, distinctive and supremely well-crafted comic fiction that mesmerised in order to amuse. Structurally, the show moved from moment to moment with the cruel and remorseless logic of a Feydeau farce; emotionally, it twitched, twisted and tensed like a classic little Freudian fable.


It all added up to the kind of sitcom that did so much more than merely use up another thirty minutes with mechanical babble and bustle. Week after week, Fawlty Towers kept on setting itself fresh challenges – in terms of pace and plot and personae – and never failed to see them through. There were no blank pages in its scripts, no aimless moments, no loose threads, no spare flesh. The chaos worked like clockwork: each episode was elegantly elaborate, cleverly self-contained and thrillingly driven and direct. The end might have been inevitable, but the means were unpredictable. It was always Fate that Fawlty fought, but, even though we knew that his fight was hopeless, we were fascinated to watch the various ways whereby he failed to evade that final slap in the face.


We were left wanting more – much more. After just two short series, when the inspiration was still at its height, it was gone, and its absence was keenly felt. It still is. Fawlty Towers was, and remains, very special indeed. It was ‘event’ television, ‘water-cooler’ television, ‘appointment television’. Whatever the voguish phrase, whatever the current buzz word, the salient point is that, whenever Fawlty Towers was on, you had to watch it, and then you had to discuss it, and laugh about it, and love it. It was never a chore. It was always a pleasure. It was comedy at its very best.


Success – in both the popular and critical senses – came rather slowly at first, as word of its very special magic took time to spread, but it then proceeded, very rapidly, to grow and grow and grow. In 1976, the first series won the Broadcasting Press Guild ‘Best Comedy’ award, the BAFTA ‘Best Situation-Comedy’ award and the Royal Television Society ‘Outstanding Creative Achievement’ award, and then, in 1980, the second series won the BAFTAs for ‘Best Situation-Comedy’ and ‘Best Light Entertainment Performance’. The plaudits kept on coming long after the run was done.


During the decades since the original shows were first aired, Fawlty Towers has been shown repeatedly in more than sixty countries – from Tonga to Bosnia, from China to Pakistan and from Latvia to Malta (and, in a 2004 poll, it was voted the most popular British sitcom seen by non-British viewers5). There have also been volumes of scripts, vinyl records, audio cassettes, CDs, videos, DVDs and even an interactive CD-ROM and UMD to meet the needs of the most avid of fans, but still the appetite appears to remain unsated (in 2007, for example, a Radio Times-sponsored ‘Great British TV Survey’ named the show as the one that most people wanted to see brought back to the screen6). Similarly, as far as the vast majority of the critics are concerned, the benchmark set by the show still remains unsurpassed: in an industry poll conducted by the British Film Institute in 2000 to determine the nation’s 100 best-ever television programmes, Fawlty Towers ended up right at the top of a very distinguished list.7


This is why the show is still worth recalling, analysing and celebrating. It was a great event, it had a huge impact – and it is still as funny as ever. Fawlty Towers is therefore well worth a return visit and a relatively leisurely stay.





1


When Python Met Sinclair


A satisfied customer – we should have him stuffed!


Things first started going slightly Fawlty in the middle of May 1970, when the Monty Python’s Flying Circus team checked into a perfectly ordinary-looking, four-star hotel on the outskirts of Torquay.1 They were in the area for a fortnight to film a few sketches and sequences for the second series of the comedy show that sought to provide people with something completely different. The BBC had chosen this hotel as a suitable base for the troupe.


The hotel in question was the Gleneagles, situated in Asheldon Road in the Wellswood area of Torquay, overlooking the pretty little Anstey’s Cove (where the novelist Agatha Christie used to go for quiet moonlit picnics) and the nearby Redgate Beach, with panoramic sea views across the bay towards Seaton, Sidmouth, Exmouth and Lyme Regis. Bright and clean and neat, the converted Georgian mansion had acquired a reputation in the area for the beauty of its ocean views, the comfort of its rooms and, alas, the exceptional short-temperedness of its proprietor.


The proprietor in question was a skinny little Irish-born Englishman named Donald William Sinclair (a thrice-torpedoed former Commander in the British Navy), who had been co-managing the Gleneagles with his much taller, and even more formidable Aberdonian wife, Beatrice (known to most as ‘Betty’), for the past seven years (prior to which he had managed the nearby Greenacres – now defunct – throughout the 1950s). Now aged sixty, he considered himself far too old, too busy and too important to suffer any fools either gladly or glibly. The problem was that, by Donald Sinclair’s exacting standards, most of the people who happened to venture inside his hotel seemed like utter and insufferable fools.


Often combining (grudgingly) the roles of manager, porter, night porter, receptionist, lunchtime bar person, still-room assistant and tea-maker, he was invariably behind schedule, highly stressed and extremely irascible. What kind of things exacerbated his anger? Most kinds of things did the trick.


It was not unusual, for example, for him to bring down the shutters on the bar abruptly and prematurely at 9.00 p.m. because he had already grown tired of those whom he was still supposed to be serving (snapping at anyone brave enough to complain: ‘Tough!’). He once halted breakfast and began interrogating certain guests when a teapot meant for four was found sitting on a table meant for two. He also ejected several residents from the lounge at lunchtime when they inquired politely if any sandwiches might possibly be available (‘Right, that’s it – out!’2).


One evening at around 10.45 p.m., when a young mother pressed the night porter service button at reception to request a flask of hot water to heat her baby’s bottle, Sinclair finally appeared (following a delay of about fifteen minutes) in his dressing-gown and proceeded to berate her for getting him out of bed for such a maddeningly ‘trivial’ request. Similarly, when a large number of guests, who had been made to wait for more than an hour for the arrival of the band to commence the evening’s scheduled formal dance, at last grew impatient and started to complain – Sinclair, without offering any explanation, marched silently into the room, dumped an old record player, with no records, in the middle of the floor and then stormed off into the night. Then there was the newly arrived visiting academic who, upon finding no more than a couple of sheets of lavatory paper hanging limply from the roll in his en-suite bathroom, found the courage to ask, in the meek manner of a grown-up Oliver Twist, ‘Please, sir, I want some more’ – and was startled to hear Sinclair moan in response, ‘What on earth are you doing with it?’3 On yet another painful occasion, he ejected some late-arriving visitors for daring to question, quite mildly, the hotel’s less-than-superlative standard of service.4


Hell, for Donald Sinclair, was having to put up with other people inside his own hotel. Every new guest, therefore, represented a fresh threat of unbearable chaos.


None of the Pythons knew anything about this when they first checked in to the Gleneagles – but they soon found out that something was not quite right. Something was not quite right about Donald Sinclair. ‘He was completely round the twist, off his chump, out of his tree,’ an exasperated Graham Chapman would recall. ‘[Sinclair] did not like guests and even thought that Eric [Idle’s squash] gear, which was in a bag, and which Eric had just left outside the hotel, was in fact a bomb.’5 The bag in question ended up being hidden seventy yards or so away beyond a tall white wall by the hotel swimming pool just in case it blew up (‘We’ve had a lot of staff problems lately’6); but the madness had only just started.


When the Pythons first sat down together for dinner, Sinclair noticed that Terry Gilliam, who was an American, was using his cutlery just like an American would do (cutting all of his meat with his knife, then picking up his fork with his right hand in order to transfer each morsel to his mouth). ‘We don’t eat like that in this country!’ barked Sinclair, all stiff-shouldered and staring-eyed, before moving on like a patrolling policeman.7 The sound of an increasingly angry kerfuffle then filtered through from the bar, where a number of thirsty guests had been left high and dry while Sinclair – who, for some unknown reason, was the only member of staff he was allowing to serve drinks on this particular evening – continued to supervise the distribution of dishes in the dining-room.8 Later that evening, Michael Palin mustered the courage to ask this curmudgeon if he could book a wake-up call: Sinclair simply stared at him, his eyebrows shooting up skywards with surprise, and then asked incredulously, ‘Why?’9 ‘Everything we asked for,’ Palin would recall, ‘seemed to be the most unforgivable imposition’.10


All of the Pythons were shocked and appalled at such an ill-mannered attitude, but one of them, John Cleese, was not only shocked and appalled but also strangely intrigued and enthralled. He had found himself in a few bad hotels before, and was no stranger to poor service, but this was so much worse that it was actually strangely hypnotic. ‘He was the rudest man I’ve ever met,’ he would say of Sinclair. ‘He was wonderful.’11 While most of the others, therefore, escaped after just one traumatic night to the nearby, and infinitely more welcoming, Imperial Hotel (but only after Mrs Sinclair had tried to charge them personally for the whole two weeks that had been booked by the BBC12), John Cleese stayed on at the Gleneagles, unable to let Mr Sinclair stray very far out of his sight.


Each subsequent day was filled with filming – a rugby match between Derby Council and the All Blacks at the local stadium (‘And the Lady Mayoress has scored!’); a spoof general election results broadcast at a mansion in Paignton (‘Well, this is largely as I predicted, except that the Silly Party won – I think this is mainly due to the number of votes cast . . .’); a parody of French cinema’s nouvelle vague with a shaky camera and a piece of lettuce at a nearby rubbish dump (‘Venez-vous ici souvent?’); a one-sided football match at a recreation ground between eleven largely immobile Long John Silver impersonators from Bournemouth and a team of frenetic gynaecologists hailing from Watford; a comic epic called ‘Scott of the Sahara’ (‘From the same team that brought you Lawrence of Glamorgan . . .’) shot on Goodrington Sands; and some bits and pieces involving psychiatrists and a milk float on a quiet suburban street (‘. . . and a pot of yoghurt, please’). Each night, as far as John Cleese was concerned, was best spent ensconced back in the lounge at the Gleneagles – observing, overhearing and collecting gossip about the increasingly incredible Donald Sinclair.


Over at the five-star Imperial, the other Pythons were being pampered while they relaxed out in the sun beside a heated sea-water pool, sipping a steady succession of gin and tonics, before heading off for a gourmet meal and a bottle or two of lightly chilled Meursault, Sancerre or a good old Château de Chasselas (‘Very passable, this, eh? Very passable’) in the hotel restaurant. At the Gleneagles, meanwhile, Cleese (who had by now been joined by his wife and occasional Monty Python supporting artiste, Connie Booth) was relishing each one of Sinclair’s maniacally tetchy little episodes. ‘When you walked down the steps into reception,’ Cleese would later recall, ‘he’d be just sitting at the desk, staring into space. But the moment that he saw somebody coming, he’d immediately pretend that he was very, very busy. And then you’d come up and stand there on the other side of the reception desk and he would ignore you as though you’d suddenly been rendered invisible. So eventually you’d say, “Er, excuse me . . .” and he’d say, “Oh, WHAT?”’13 Nothing, it seemed, was ever too little trouble. ‘Could you possibly call me a taxi, please?’ Cleese asked him on one occasion. ‘I beg your pardon?’ Sinclair replied, sharply. ‘Could you call me a taxi, please?’ Cleese repeated. ‘Call you a taxi?’ Sinclair exclaimed. ‘Yes,’ said Cleese. ‘Oh, I suppose so,’ sighed Sinclair, sounding as though he had just been asked to drop everything else and construct the taxi himself out of bits of hotel cutlery, learn the ‘Knowledge’, acquire a licence and then drive the passenger all the way from the hotel to some distant and difficult destination during the rush hour.14


If Cleese still harboured the suspicion that Sinclair was just having an exceptionally taxing and trying summer season, and perhaps was not normally quite so awful as this, then other guests, and the odd member of staff, would surely have been quick to disabuse him. This, they would have confirmed, was par for the course for Donald Sinclair. It would not get any better – and indeed, if anything, it might well get even worse.


Years later, shortly after Sinclair’s death in September 1981 (at the age of seventy-two from a combination of ‘myocardial infarction’ and ‘hypertension’15), his loyal (and similarly irascible) widow, Betty, would defend him angrily to the Press, claiming that, although he had indeed been a strong and impatient disciplinarian, he had also been a ‘highly intelligent man and very efficient and courteous at his job’ – and nothing at all like the ‘neurotic eccentric’ that John Cleese (whom she said she regarded as a ‘complete and utter fool’) had gone on to make him out to be.16 ‘Donald didn’t want the Python team to stay at the Gleneagles,’ she protested. ‘They didn’t fit into a family hotel and Donald came to me and said they should go. He said they would upset the other guests.’17 Mrs Sinclair’s well-meant attempt to revise her late husband’s reputation backfired somewhat, however, because her comments only succeeded in prompting others who had known him to come forward with a fresh set of unflattering anecdotes.


Rosemary Harrison, for example, wrote a letter to the Daily Telegraph recalling her own brief experience of working at the Gleneagles, on a break from her training as a hotel management student, during the summer of 1973. Her former employer was, she insisted, ‘bonkers’: ‘I have never come across anyone quite like Mr Sinclair. He was a square peg in a round hole.’ After noting how he failed to delegate any duties, but still shouted at anyone who tried to urge him, very tactfully and discreetly, to speed up, she confirmed that he ‘was just rude to the guests, and where possible staff kept out of his way.’18 She added in a subsequent interview: ‘[The hotel] almost had the mentality of a prison camp in that guests and staff alike pulled together and talked and laughed about Mr Sinclair as a way of surviving.’19


There was more to come. There was much more.


One account was provided by a former customer, Roy Browning, who stayed at the hotel with his wife and two friends for what they had hoped would be a relaxing week on the so-called English Riviera. On their first evening, he reflected, they wandered into the bar for a pre-dinner drink only to be told very brusquely by Mr Sinclair: ‘You’d better drink up, my wife doesn’t spend her life in the kitchen preparing good food to have it spoilt because you can’t get here on time.’ Browning, understandably, was rather startled, but tried to dismiss such rudeness as an isolated incident. Two days later, however, events took a turn for the worse. ‘Mr Sinclair explained there would be two sittings for dinner,’ Browning recalled, ‘because they had a dinner dance, and said if we didn’t mind having the second, we could pre-order to ensure we received our choice.’ The party agreed to the request and then wandered off to explore Torquay. When, however, they returned to the bar for another pre-dinner drink, there was an even stronger sense of tension in the air: ‘The band was in a heated discussion with Mr Sinclair, after which two of them packed their instruments and left.’ The foursome took their seats, somewhat nervously, in the dining room, only to be told that several of their pre-ordered choices were now inexplicably unavailable. Browning, his patience now perilously close to snapping, complained to Sinclair, only to be told that ‘the kitchen was not his responsibility and I should speak to his wife. When we did so it was clear our requests had not been passed on.’ Seeking to drown their shared sorrows, Browning and his fellow diners ordered some wine – or at least they tried to: ‘It took three attempts before we found a wine on their list that they actually had in stock.’ By the following morning, therefore, the holiday had turned into such a disaster that all four of them decided to cut their losses and leave early: ‘We calculated what we owed, paid up and left.’ Several weeks later, however, a court summons was slipped through Roy Browning’s door: ‘He was suing us for the full cost of the week, even though we had stayed only three days.’ The Brownings eventually won after a court declared that they had not received the service they had a right to expect, but the painful memory of their stay would remain with them for ever.20


Something depressingly similar happened to Richard Saunders during his stay there on a family holiday. His polite request at the bar for a post-prandial gin and tonic prompted Sinclair to slam down the shutters and shout, ‘The bar is closed!’ A colleague who was staying at another hotel nearby – The Queen’s – suggested that a drink could be drunk there freely in peace, so Saunders got up and set off: ‘As I was walking out, [Sinclair] said to me, “And where do you think you’re going?” And I said, “Oh, I’m just popping down to the Queen’s to have a drink with my friend – you won’t serve me!” He said, “If you go out, and you’re not back by eleven o’clock, the door will be closed!”’ Saunders strode off, shaking his head at such surly ‘service’, and, as the G&Ts slipped down, he resolved – as a matter of principle – to flout the curfew by a few symbolic minutes. ‘And when I came back, the front door was closed. Locked. Couldn’t get in. So I thought, “This is ridiculous – my wife and daughter’s in there!” So I thumped on the door. Suddenly, a window went up, and [Sinclair] poked his head out the window with his pyjamas on. He said, “I told you you’d be locked out!” I said, “If you don’t open this door I shall bash it in!” ’ After three or four minutes, a reluctant Sinclair opened the door, let Saunders in and then slammed it shut again – thus waking up most of the other guests in his hotel.21


It was not only former customers who offered their recollections; several former contractors did, too. One builder, for example, recalled a bizarre incident in the early 1970s involving Sinclair and an innocent-looking sign: ‘At that time we were constructing additional bedroom accommodation, and one morning whilst working on the roof [we heard] a commotion taking place in the car park below. At one side, sign specialists were assembling a glass fasciaboard signifying the “Hotel Gleneagles” in readiness to be fixed over the front entrance, but little did they know that they wouldn’t complete their job that day. Out of the hotel, in rather a hurry, came Donald Sinclair in an attempt to avoid abuse being directed at him from reception. He jumped into his car, slammed home the gear and reversed right over the corner of the new glass-fronted sign. He then moved forward, realigned the car, and again, this time with obvious intent, proceeded to completely demolish the remaining part of the sign, much to the amazement of the onlookers.’22


Few details, it seemed, would prove too small when it came to the risk of causing another commotion. One guest, who stayed at the Gleneagles one summer during the early 1970s, recalled how she and her husband tried in vain to order fresh strawberries and cream from the hotel menu for four nights in a row. ‘The first night we were told they were off, the second we were told they were finished, the third night we were told they were off and on the fourth night we were told they were finished. On the fifth night we gave up on the whole idea. My husband had a row with him over it but he didn’t really care.’23 Sinclair, she said, was ‘Fawlty to a “T”.’24


Even the odd well-intended gesture often ended up going horribly awry. Barbara DePaulis, who used the hotel for her daughter’s wedding in the early 1970s, would describe how one of her guests had to be rushed to hospital with a broken nose after crashing into a door that failed to open, and then her husband ended up being persuaded by a harassed Sinclair to spend most of his daughter’s special day serving customers in the restaurant. ‘It was the first wedding reception that the Gleneagles had had,’ she would recall. ‘They did not have enough staff or food. It was just hysterical. In the end we had to laugh.’25


Another anecdote came from Colin Bratcher, a bass player in a local band that often used to play at the Gleneagles. ‘One evening,’ he reminisced, ‘there was no chair for the organist on the bandstand, so I opened the dining-room door and took one from there. It was already well past dinnertime and I didn’t think it would be a problem. Shortly after, a note was passed to me from Mr Sinclair asking me to switch the chair because it didn’t go with the others on stage. I don’t know how he could even see it because someone was sitting on it, but he was fastidious. He used to serve at the bar while we played and he would often pass us notes with orders on them. We would be playing away quite merrily when an instruction would come: “The guests look half-asleep, play a samba.” The guests seemed happy with our peaceful tunes, but he liked to be in control. He was totally eccentric.’26


Sometimes, Donald Sinclair’s remorselessly belligerent attitude tipped his victims right over the edge and straight into frenzied acts of revenge. On one such occasion (long after he and his wife had retired from the hotel business), he became embroiled in a predictably fractious dispute with a couple of labourers over the quality of their handiwork (one of them had been laying carpets, the other had been hired to spruce up some of the décor). After yet another angry day of accusations, insults and threats, Sinclair woke up the following morning, peered out through his bedroom window and was horrified to find that his car, swimming pool, garden furniture, doors, walls, lawn, trees and bushes had all been painted the same shade of battleship grey during a long silent night of stealthy retaliation. ‘They were not happy with painting the car,’ his wife wailed about the workmen, ‘they had to paint the windscreen as well.’27


Perhaps the most damning anecdote of all was the claim by an old colleague that, on more than one exceptionally fraught occasion, Mrs Sinclair herself became so exasperated by her volatile husband that she locked him in their own flat after his shrill and eccentric demands on their staff had become absolutely unbearable for all concerned (‘Now don’t let him out,’ she ordered the others, ‘he’s only going to upset you!’)28. There was, as Eric Morecambe might have said, no answer to that, so Mrs Sinclair withdrew back into haughty obscurity, and her late husband went on being recalled and roundly mocked.


Back in the kinder, gentler world of the summer of 1970, however, such a risible legend seemed unlikely ever to commence. After the fortnight of filming in the area was over, John Cleese and Connie Booth had gone straight back to London with the rest of the Pythons, Donald Sinclair had stayed put in Torquay, and the odd little interlude that they had shared appeared to be over for good. There were no immediate schemes to tease; there were just plenty of sighs of relief. Cleese soon found, however, that he could not stop thinking, talking and laughing about the attitude and antics of the very strange man called Donald Sinclair. He simply could not shake the character from out of his head.


The normal writing routine was resumed, and, to the few who were ‘in the know’, faint traces of Sinclair could soon be discerned in the emerging scripts. It started out as no more than a line here or a gesture there (such as in the extended sketch that Cleese wrote that autumn for a forthcoming edition of Six Dates with Barker, which had Ronnie Barker playing a psychiatrist who is visited by an eccentric prospective patient so fearful of being diagnosed with mental problems that he pretends initially to be a gas man who has only come in to read the meter29), but, after just under a year, the temptation to try something more substantial grew too strong for Cleese to resist, and a semblance of the whole man crept back into the comical view. In a script for an episode – broadcast on 30 May 1971 – of Doctor At Large (the follow-up to the popular LWT sitcom Doctor In The House) entitled ‘No Ill Feeling!’, Cleese found a place for Mr (and Mrs) Sinclair in his own little fictional world.


Since the sitcom’s central character, Dr Upton (played by Barry Evans), was now newly qualified and out and about in search of work, Cleese had him check in for a short stay at a Gleneagles-style seaside hotel – the humdrum Bella Vista – while gaining experience as a locum under the supervision of a provincial GP. Timothy Bateson played the role of the establishment’s tetchy manager, George Clifford – a short, scrawny, somewhat Crippen-like man, with flat, shiny, centre-parted hair and round little National Health spectacles. Eunice Black played his hectoring wife: a tall and broad woman in frilly chiffon (a sort of English Edna Everage), who looked as though she might smack you and then kiss you and then punch you on the nose. The other guests included a trio of eccentric old ladies, a few paunchy middle-aged men in pinstripes and a tiresome self-styled ‘wag’.


Just like Donald Sinclair had ‘greeted’ the puzzled Pythons, Mr Clifford introduced himself to Dr Upton with a brusque, ‘What is it?’ Interrupted repeatedly by distant barks from his bossy wife (‘George – you haven’t done the sprouts yet! Why haven’t you done the sprouts?’) and irritated by Upton’s repeated ringing of the reception bell during his absence (‘I do know you’re here, you know!’), Clifford sighed, snapped and tut-tutted his way through the process whereby Upton was booked in and accorded a room (‘Let’s try and get this thing quite clear, shall we?’). The young doctor was then hurried through into the cramped little dining area by Clifford’s redoubtable wife: ‘This is a hotel, Dr Upton – we do ask our guests to be prompt for meals!’


Things were just as awkward the following morning, when Upton came down to brave a quick breakfast:




CLIFFORD: Cereal?


UPTON: Er, no, thanks, just—


CLIFFORD: Kipper or sausage?


UPTON: Would the kipper be quick?


CLIFFORD: I beg your pardon?


UPTON: Er, would the kipper be quicker?


CLIFFORD: Well, it’ll be as quick as it can be. It can’t be quicker than that, can it? I mean, how quick can a kipper be? I’ve got to cook the wretched thing!


UPTON: Er, y-yes.


CLIFFORD: Do you want it cold?


UPTON: No, no, I—


CLIFFORD: Look: I’ve got to make the beds by eleven o’clock! ‘How quick can you cook a kipper?’ – coh!30





Little more was seen of Clifford during the episode, apart from a final scene in which, out of sheer frustration, he poured a bowl of minestrone (pronounced so as to rhyme with ‘home, sweet home’) over the head of one of his guests (‘I hate you!’), but, nonetheless, the character certainly made an impact on those who were watching the show.


Humphrey Barclay, the programme’s producer (and a Cambridge contemporary), told Cleese enthusiastically, ‘There’s a series in that hotel.’ The writer merely thought, ‘Bloody television producer, can’t see a programme without thinking about a series.’31 After all, Cleese was far too preoccupied at that time with numerous other projects to take such a comment seriously; apart from contributing to the increasingly popular Monty Python’s Flying Circus on television (and various other media) and the long-running I’m Sorry I’ll Read That Again on radio, he was also writing for several other TV shows, including The Ronnie Barker Yearbook32 and The Two Ronnies, 33 as well as acting in the odd edition of Les Dawson’s Sez Les34 and such one-off productions as Elementary, My Dear Watson (an edition of Comedy Playhouse – scripted by N. F. Simpson – in which he played Sherlock Holmes opposite Willie Rushton’s Dr Watson).35 In addition to all of this, Cleese (who was still in need of extra cash – ‘I’d lost some money in an investment – I put some money into a gym and set a man up, and about three months later he died. Most extraordinary! I’d lost quite a bit of money on that’36) was also now involved in planning, writing and acting in projects for Video Arts, a new production company (co-founded in 1972 with Anthony Jay, Peter Robinson and Michael Peacock) that made short training films for the business world (teaching people how to avoid being as inefficient, bad-mannered and tactless as the likes of Donald Sinclair).37 The last thing that he needed, therefore, was the strain of creating a new sitcom.


Life thus went on as normal (or abnormal), with Cleese slipping in and out of a wide variety of Monty Python comic personae, including an esurient cheese eater; a fish slapper; a bereaved parrot fancier; a fruit-fearing martinet; an upper-class twit; a psychotic chef; a minister for silly walks; an argument coach; an Australian philosopher called Bruce; Attila the Hun; Inspector Tiger of the Yard; Professor Enid Gumby; loud-mouthed bore Brian Equator; the quiz show host Michael Miles; the broadcaster Alan Whicker; an unfortunate member of the public by the name of Eric Praline; the entrepreneurial Dr E. Henry Thripshaw; a highwayman called Dennis Moore; and a taunting French guard from the Middle Ages. The characterisations, inevitably, were sketchy but as sketches they were very well done, and further enhanced Cleese’s already heady reputation as one of the funniest men in the country.


The memory of the hotelier from hell, however, showed no signs of fading off into the past. As obdurate as the man himself, the idea of him kept on niggling away, waiting impatiently to take centre stage. It was just a matter of time.
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Morning, Fawlty!


And now for something completely different . . .


At the end of 1972, after completing three series of Monty Python’s Flying Circus, John Cleese told the rest of the troupe that he felt that he needed to leave.1 He wanted, he said, to do something different, and he wanted to write with his wife.


It was a bold step for him to take, as the phenomenon that was Monty Python was still far from achieving its full potential, but, as a glance at the story of his life up to that point would have shown, the decision did conform to a certain sort of dogged logic. Coming from a relatively conventional, closely knit and quietly desperate ‘lower-middle with pretensions to middle-middle’-class English background,2 where a wardrobe full of pinstripe and a choice between law or accountancy for a career were considered to be practically de rigueur, he had grown used to seeking out new challenges instead of waiting for them to stroll up to his door.


Born on 27 October 1939 at 6 Ellesmere Road in Uphill, Weston-super-Mare, John Marwood Cleese (to give him his full name) was the only child of Reginald Cleese, an ‘insurance official’ (as he put it, rather grandly, on various forms and questionnaires, or a ‘travelling insurance salesman’, as everyone else was more likely to have described him), and Muriel Cross, a dutiful homemaker. Reg was a well-meaning but somewhat stuffy, starchy, literal-minded sort of individual (he once sent a letter of complaint to the humorous magazine Punch when he failed to find one of its cartoons sufficiently funny3) who had changed his name from Cheese to Cleese in 1915, shortly before he joined the Army, because he had already grown well and truly cheesed-off at being teased. Muriel was, ostensibly, an eminently ‘proper’ and conservative individual, but, in her own discreet and subtle manner, was quite capable of principled acts of rebellion (the most significant of which had seen her defy her stern father’s disapproval to marry Reg – who was deemed to have been somewhat ‘beneath’ her – in a register office4), as well as the occasional angry outburst. (Whereas Reg was sometimes known, in the privacy of his own home, to behave in a mildly playful sort of way, Muriel was usually much more moody, depressed and perhaps even somewhat neurotic.5) Baby John arrived six days after his parents’ thirteenth wedding anniversary, when Reg was forty-six and Muriel had just turned forty (‘Life there is, of course, entirely free of sex,’ their son would say of his birthplace. ‘Occasionally, people are born in Weston by parthenogenesis’6).


The dawning of war caused the Cleese family to commence a fairly peripatetic period of existence, moving, as soon as the bombs began falling, first to rooms eight miles away in a large, detached Victorian farmhouse called Hillside House in the village of Brent Knoll, and then on for short spells spent in several other nearby places before eventually returning home, once the war was over, to Weston-super-Mare. It was at this stage, it seems, that Reg Cleese, anxious to protect the family finances from the hazards of an age of austerity, grew increasingly – and, at least in his son’s eyes, rather comically – ‘careful’ with his pennies. ‘For instance,’ John would recall fondly, ‘if my mother had asked him to buy some ham, he would always come back in and she would look at what he had bought and say, “This isn’t the usual ham.” He would say, “No, they have some special Norwegian ham this week. They recommend it very highly. They said it’s better than the ordinary stuff.” In reality it was just cheaper.’7


Thanks, however, to a relatively small but nonetheless very welcome inheritance that Muriel had recently received, John was still able to attend three good schools in the area – first, briefly, a private preparatory school in Burnham-on-Sea, then St Peter’s Preparatory School in Weston and, finally, Clifton College public school in Bristol (an institution, as he later put it, ‘in the middle of the middle of the middle of the public-school hierarchy’8) – and proved himself a pupil of real academic promise as well as, considering his spindly frame (described by his PT master as ‘six foot of chewed string’9), a fairly decent player of football and cricket (‘I had fantasies,’ he would recall, ‘of being a famous cricketer, scoring centuries for Somerset’10).


He was already six feet tall by the time that he was twelve (‘His clothes and his feet,’ said his mother, ‘were a great worry’11), so there was a nagging sense of awkwardness that had to be overcome: ‘The thing about being tall,’ he would reflect, ‘is that you cannot shrink into the background. And [. . .] I didn’t find mixing very easy. But I discovered that by making the rest of the class laugh I could get acceptance and become rather popular.’12 Outside of school, he spent countless hours at the movies, marvelling at the style, grace and wit of his hero, the Bristol-born Cary Grant – one of the least awkward human beings on the planet: ‘Even as a boy,’ he would say, ‘when my pals worshipped Western movie stars such as Roy Rogers and Gene Autry or thrilled to the adventures of exotically caped comic book characters such as Superman and Batman, my idol was a suave man in a pinstripe suit. Regularly during the Nineteen-forties I would make the twenty-mile journey from my home in Weston-super-Mare to a little fleapit cinema on the outskirts of Bristol on a sort of holy pilgrimage to watch Cary Grant movies.’13


As an only child, Cleese continued to be somewhat cosseted by his caringly conservative parents, who would always make sure that he went out wrapped up in the appropriate combination of thick vests, woolly jumpers and warm coats, and, much to his irritation, refused to let him risk any injury by riding something quite as sensational as a bicycle: ‘We were both anxious for him,’ his mother later admitted. ‘I suppose it was our age. We could see dangers he couldn’t see.’14 At school, however, as a contributor to school plays (such as a version of Molière’s Tartuffe) and end-of-term revues, he acquired more confidence in himself and began to relish the chance to assume a more forceful sort of demeanour. He was still no show-off, but he was starting to make the most of his singular moments.


As a footballer, for example, he became notorious for one particular party piece, which saw him contrive to torment the opposition by drifting into a corner of the pitch and then indulge, for as long as was possible, in intricately aimless passing routines with two or three of his similarly mischievous teammates. In 1958, the school’s unintentionally suggestive in-house magazine, The Cliftonian, reported of one such performance: ‘Cleese, the self-styled schemer, has fiddled the ball, himself, his opponents and his fellow forwards into a state of neurotic frenzy!’15


As a cricketer, young Cleese went considerably further, playing for the school’s highly competitive 1st XI and making a name for himself locally both for his exhilarating rashness as a batsman (his manic dashes between the wickets seemed designed primarily to summon up a sorry pair of run-outs) and his inscrutability as a slow off-spinner (his great height meant that his bowling arm cleared the sightscreen, making him unusually hard to ‘read’). He even began to catch the eye of the national newspapers, with The Times including in its report on the 1957 match at Lord’s between Clifton and Tonbridge an affectionate description of the ‘long-legged Cleese’ (who, when not indulging in his ‘habit of finishing short runs on his stomach’, gave ‘the quaint impression of running on stilts’16). He attracted further coverage the following year, when, during an exhibition match on the college sports ground – The Close – in Bristol, he produced an off-spin delivery to the recently retired Middlesex and England great, Denis Compton, that was smacked straight into the hands of the waiting Ken Whitty at mid-on, thus earning the bowler the enviable line on the scorecard: ‘Compton, D. C. S., c. Whitty b. Cleese, 22’.17 (For his pains, poor Compton would end up getting a name-check in an episode of Fawlty Towers entitled ‘The Builders’: ‘Well, whose fault is it then, you cloth-eared bint – Denis Compton’s??’)


After achieving three suitably sober-sounding science A-levels (in Mathematics, Chemistry and Physics) at Clifton, Cleese spent two years teaching at his old prep school, St Peter’s, before entering Downing College, Cambridge, in 1960 to read Law. Sporting a newly grown, Jimmy Hill-style beard that made him look, according to a fellow fresher, ‘like some weird blend between the sailor on the Players [cigarette] packets and an up-ended toothbrush’,18 he wandered back and forth through the well-manicured grounds of his bright-bricked college, sat dutifully through all of his lectures (which included regular sessions on Roman Law with R. W. M. Duff, International Law with R. Y. Jennings, Constitutional Law with E. C. S. Wade and Contract and Tort with J. A. Jolowicz), listened carefully to his tutors, put in the hours of study in the old Squire Library in Trinity Lane and kept himself on course for a decent conclusion (an Upper Second) to the first leg of his Tripos.


It was as a member of the university’s Footlights Society, however, that Cleese at last found an outlet for his budding comedic talents – but only after surviving an embarrassingly inauspicious start. Keen to follow in the footsteps of the recently graduated Peter Cook (whose influence ‘was so thick in the air for two or three years you could cut it with a knife’), Cleese, like many would-be entertainers, set off at the start of his first term in search of the Footlights stand at the annual Freshers’ Fair: ‘They said, “Well, what do you do? Do you sing? . . . Do you dance?” Well, of course, if there’s anything I’m worse at than singing, it’s dancing. So I said, “No,” and they said, “Well, what do you do?” and I said, “I make people laugh” – and I blushed the colour of beetroot and ran – literally.’19 Eventually, however, he passed an audition and soon established himself as a prominent presence at the club’s HQ (based in those days on the first floor of premises secreted in the shadowy Falcon Yard, above the back of MacFisheries in an area of town known as Petty Cury20), collaborating with such kindred spirits as Graham Chapman, Tim Brooke-Taylor, Bill Oddie, David Hatch, Humphrey Barclay, Jo Kendall, Trevor Nunn, Tony Buffery and Miriam Margolyes on a succession of high-profile revues.


Blessed with a sharper ear than an eye for comedy – ‘I’m not very good at observing people but at the end of a conversation I can remember a great deal of what they have said and probably know how their mind works. But I don’t think I know what kind of person they are’21 – Cleese started producing clever little verbal exercises that were shaped in part by the interrogatory customs of his legal training, as well as by his instinctively rigorous style of thinking. ‘By the time I was halfway through my second year,’ he would say, ‘I was beginning to show one or two glimmerings of talent. By the time I got to my third year, I was writing some sketches that were really quite good.’22 The best of them all was probably an ensemble piece entitled ‘Judge Not’ (written when he was aged twenty-one), which anticipated the kind of communication problems that would inspire so much of his later comedy:




BARRISTER: You are Arnold Fitch, alias ‘Arnold Fitch’?


DEFENDANT: Yes.


BARRISTER: Why is your alias the same as your real name?


DEFENDANT: Because, when I do use my alias, no one would expect it to be the same as my real name.


BARRISTER: You are a company director?


DEFENDANT: Of course.


BARRISTER: Did you throw the watering can?


DEFENDANT: No.


BARRISTER: I suggest that you threw the watering can.


DEFENDANT: I did not.


BARRISTER: I put it to you that you threw the watering can.


DEFENDANT: I didn’t!


BARRISTER: I submit that you threw the watering can!


DEFENDANT: No!


BARRISTER: Did you or did you not throw the watering can?


DEFENDANT: I did not!


BARRISTER: YES OR NO? DID YOU THROW THE WATERING CAN?


DEFENDANT: NO!


BARRISTER: ANSWER THE QUESTION!


DEFENDANT: I – I didn’t throw it!


BARRISTER: So – he denies it! Very well – would you be surprised to hear that you’d thrown the watering can?


DEFENDANT: Yes.


BARRISTER: And do you deny not throwing the watering can?


DEFENDANT: Yes.


BARRISTER: HAH!


DEFENDANT: NO!


BARRISTER: Very well, Mr Fitch – would it be true to say that you were lying if you denied that it was false to affirm that it belied you to deny that it was untrue that you were lying?


DEFENDANT: Ulp . . . Er . . .


BARRISTER: You hesitate, Mr Fitch! An answer, please – the court is waiting.


DEFENDANT: Yes!


BARRISTER: What?


DEFENDANT: Yes!


[The barrister tries desperately to work out if this is the right or the wrong answer]


BARRISTER: No further questions, m’lud.23





After graduating in the summer of 1963 with an eminently respectable Upper Second Class degree (‘He would have made a remarkably good barrister,’ recalled a contemporary. ‘Those glaring eyes would have won him many a case’24), he abandoned plans to pursue a career at one of the City of London’s most venerable law firms, Freshfields (solicitors to the Bank of England), in favour of a £1,500 per year job in BBC Radio as a trainee writer/producer (beginning by ‘taking jokes out of scripts that were too gaggy’,25 before writing his own material for the likes of Brian Rix and Terry Scott – a seasonal special called Yule Be Surprised – Dick Emery and Deryck Guyler – a series entitled Emery At Large – and Ronnie Barker and Cyril Fletcher – for a series called Not To Worry – as well as contributing the odd line to television’s first satirical current affairs show, That Was The Week That Was).


Within a few months, however, he had taken leave from the BBC to rejoin his former Footlights colleagues in the West End for a version of their final university revue, A Clump of Plinths, now under the new title of Cambridge Circus. The production proved popular enough to prompt a six-week summer tour of New Zealand, where Cleese first experienced spectacularly poor service on a daily basis: ‘The New Zealanders, in those days, were a little bit out to lunch and almost nothing in New Zealand worked. The only thing was, because they were New Zealanders, they’d never been anywhere where things did work. So, if you criticised them, they thought you were mad!’26


After the short stay in New Zealand, however, came an offer to visit the United States of America. At the start of October 1964, the company embarked on a run in New York – first, for twenty-three performances, at the Plymouth Theatre on Broadway (where a critic for the New York Times judged the cast ‘engaging’ and ‘appealing’ while wishing that ‘the level of their material was consistently higher’27
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